1970

## State of Utah v. Judy Carol Leggroan : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a criminal proceeding in which the defendant, Judy Carol Leggroan was charged with the crime of murder in the first degree by information filed in the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County on October 10, 1969.

DISPOSITION OF CASE BY LOWER COURT

The defendant was tried by jury before the honorable D. Frank Wilkins, District Judge, commencing November 24, 1969. On December 3, 1969 the case was submitted to

the jury which returned a verdict of guilty of the lesser included offense of murder in the second degree. On December 22, 1969 the defendant was sentenced and committed to the Utah State Prison for the indeterminate term as provided for the crime of murder in the second degree.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks a new trial.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Shortly after midnight on September 3, 1969, the police, responding to a call placed by the defendant (T-63), went to a residence in the northwest section of Salt Lake City and found the defendant's husband lying bleeding on the kitchen floor (T-22). He was taken to a hospital where he died shortly thereafter (T-71). The cause of death was multiple 22 calibre gunshot wounds (T-85), two in the chest and one in the back (T-78).

The defendant was apprehended at the scene (T-24) where, according to the police officer, she announced she had "shot the son-of-a-bitch with his own gun." The police officers observed that she was visibly upset (T-49) and at times her speech irrational (T-249). Her face showed signs of swelling around her eye and mouth (T-58) and a blood alcohol test, administered after 12:45 a.m., showed

her blood-alcohol level to be 0.197 per cent (T-254, 259), which expert opinion extrapolated to 0.227 per cent at the time leading up to the shooting (T-511).

A police officer who had interrogated the defendant at the scene testified that:

[S]he told me that her and her husband had been arguing. She had left the house, and had walked to North Temple then east to the viaduct. She stated at this point he overtook her on foot and forced her to go back to the house with him. She stated that enroute back to the house he hit her twice . . . once in the eye and once in the mouth. . . . [A]fter they got to the house the argument continued. She stated that among other things he told her that she was nothing but a whore, and he also told her that her mother was a whore. She stated that at one time she had been a prostitute; however, her mother never had been. She stated that she got very angry when he accused — told her her mother was a prostitute. She stated that she reached down under the bed, picked up a gun. She stated . . . "I had to put guts in it" . . . [and] she stood up and shot him. She said she thought she fired about three shots. (T- 43, 44)

The officer also testified that she informed him that her husband had shot up the house the previous night and had taken a shot at her (T-56, 62). (The transcript on p. 44, line 19, is in error on this point. (Compare T-44 with T-56, 62.)

The state introduced evidence through the husband's mother and sister and a service station attendant that the defendant had threatened to "kill" the husband on several occasions in the past (T-157, 159, 174, 187-190).

The defendant testified that her husband had beaten her severely on numerous occasions resulting in the necessity for medical treatment, and on one occasion hospitalization (T-270-275). Two medical doctors testified in corroboration of her testimony on this point (T-384-388). She testified that these beatings had resulted in the loss of all her teeth over a three year period (T-284-286).

A number of witnesses, including the husband's mother and sister, testified to acts of violence committed by the husband upon the defendant (T-163, 165, 236, 400, 403, 492). In addition to the beatings, the defendant testified that her husband had threatened to kill her numerous times and had discharged a firearm in her direction of four different occasions, including the evening preceding the day of his death (T-277-280). This testimony was corroborated by the police officers, who observed numerous bullet holes at the defendant's residence (T-56, 118-123) and an eye witness to one of the incidents. (T-492, 493).

The defendant testified that on the evening of the homicide that she and her husband had quarreled about her refusing to go look at a house he wanted to buy (T-293). During this argument, the husband called her and

her mother black bitches and whores but the argument ceased when they went on separate errands (T-294). However, the argument resumed later in the evening and the defendant attempted to leave to spend the night at a motel. The husband pursued her and overtook her several blocks from their home. He forced her to return home, abusing her verbally and physically on the way and informing her that he had "something in the house, bitch, when you get to the house" (T-295-296).

The abuse continued in the house, and, when the husband again called the defendant's mother a whore, the argument erupted into a fight (T-296). The husband then threatened her with the gun and in the struggle she got it away from him and shot him (T-297). She immediately ran across the street and called the police (T-297).

The defense presented the testimony of two psychiatrists and a psychologist. The psychiatrists had the opinion that the defendant, while moderately retarded, knew the difference between right and wrong and was not subject to irresistible impulse (T-424-430, 435). The psychologist, who had tested the defendant extensively, had the opinion that under the conditions that existed on the night in question the defendant would sustain severe loss of control and be under the control of emotional impulses (T-455). He had the further opinion that the defendant in such a state would be unable to differentiate between right and wrong (T-460).

At the trial, the defense challenged the entire panel on the ground that it was selected from the tax assessment rolls which automatically excluded persons who were not record property holders with the effect of reducing the number of women, young people, poor people, and members of minority groups — all classes to which the defendant belonged (T-6, 14, 15). There were only ten women on the panel of fifty prospective jurors called for this case, of which only eight fell within the first thirty-two surviving the challenges for cause, and all of these were eliminated by the state's preemptory challenges (R-41-43). Apparently there were no members of minority races and the panel was noticeably composed of older people (T-14). Defense counsel proffered evidence as to the method of jury selection (T-6), but instead a stipulation was entered into that the state statutes regarding selection from assessment rolls were followed (T-14, 15).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DEFINING THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN MURDER AND VOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER AND IN PLACING THE BURDEN OF PROOF ON DEFENDANT.

It is readily apparent from a reading of the transcript that a conviction of the lesser offense of voluntary manslaughter was a strong possibility in this case. It

was undisputed by the state that the homicide took place during or at least immediately following a domestic quarrel which had involved physical violence. The record is filled with evidence of provocation and passion. Hence the jury was faced with the problem of determining whether the provocation and passion involved in this case came within the definition of voluntary manslaughter, and, if they did their duty, they consulted the courts instructions on this very critical point. It is the contention of appellant that the court's instructions incorrectly stated the law so as to preclude a finding of voluntary manslaughter, not only in this case but under almost any conceivable fact situation.

The court instructed the jury that before they could find the defendant guilty of voluntary manslaughter they must believe among other things *beyond a reasonable doubt* that the killing was without malice and upon a sudden quarrel or in the heat of passion (Instruction No. 28) (R-70). The court, defined heat of passion as follows:

The phrase "in the heat of passion," as used in these instruction, means in a state of mind known as anger, rage, resentment, or any other mental or emotional disturbance of sufficient intensity as to render the mind incapable of cool reflection, and productive of such emotional or mental state as to *irresistably compel an ordinary, reasonable person to commit the act charged. . . .* To reduce a homicide from murder to voluntary manslaughter on the ground that it was com-

mitted "in the heat of passion," it must appear that such heat of passion was induced by an adequate provocation. And by "adequate provocation" is meant such provocation as in the ordinary experience of mankind may be reasonably considered sufficient to temporarily *destroy* an ordinary person's reason and judgment, to such an extent as to induce him to act under an uncontrollable or what may be considered in view of all the circumstances an irresistible passion (Instruction 18) (R. 63, 64) (emphasis added).

In other words, the jury was instructed that they could not reduce the charge to voluntary manslaughter unless they were convinced, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the provocation was so great that a reasonable man's mental state would be such that he would have been irresistibly compelled to kill. If this were the standard, it would be much easier for the defendant to show he was entitled to an acquittal for reason of insanity or that the killing was justified than it would be for him to prove he was guilty of voluntary manslaughter. Under the doctrine of *State v. Green*, 78 Utah 580, 6 P. 2d 177 (1931), a defendant is entitled to acquittal if he raises a reasonable doubt that he (not the cool reasonable man) may have been suffering from a mental disease, even a temporary one, which caused an irresistible impulse to kill.

The law of this state requires an acquittal if there is reasonable doubt that the killing occurred in a heat of passion caused by the rape or defilement of a female re-

ative of the killer. 76-30-10 U.C.A. (1953). Presumably, this is because the law recognizes that even a reasonable, law abiding citizen might act rashly under such circumstances. However, it is certainly doubtful that such a person would be *irresistably compelled* to kill, since weekly parents and husbands manage to control their impulses and choose to report such incidents to the police rather than kill the person who committed the act on their daughter or wife. Surely, a person who killed under such circumstances would be hard put to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that an ordinary reasonable person would have been irresistably compelled to do the same thing. The legislature clearly did not put such a tremendously heavy burden on the defendant in the justifiable homicide statute and there is certainly no reason to believe that they wished to put such a burden on the defendant who merely seeks to reduce murder to voluntary manslaughter because of provoked heat of passion.

The prejudicial effect of the courts instruction was heightened by the testimony of the psychiatrists that it is doubtful that there is such a thing as an irresistible impulse even in persons who are severely mentally ill and that it is impossible to prove or disprove such an impulse (T-438). Although the doctors were testifying on the subject of the defense of insanity, the jury could not help be reminded that the two psychiatrists gave their opinion that the defendant was not acting under an "irrisist-

ible impulse" (T - 442, 443), when, they considered whether they were convinced she was acting in the "heat of passion" as defined by the court.

The origin of the language in the court's instruction was apparently the holding of the Territorial Supreme Court in *People v. Calton*, 5 Utah 451, 16 Pac. 902 *rev'd on other grounds*, 130 U.S. 83 (1888), approving the following instruction:

To reduce homicide to the degree of manslaughter on the ground solely that it was committed in the heat of passion, the provocation must have been considerable; in other words, such as was calculated to give rise to irresistible passion in the mind of a reasonable person. No slight or trivial provocation, such as is not calculated to engender uncontrolled passion in any ordinary man, will suffice, 5 Utah at 459.

This instruction, however, differs in several important aspects from that given in the instant case. First there is no requirement that the reasonable person be compelled *to kill* as in the instant instruction. Nor is there any requirement, as in the instant instruction that the ordinary person's reason and judgment be destroyed — in fact the Court in that case stated that "it is too strong to say that the reason of the party should be dethroned . . ." 5 Utah at 460. Finally, in *Calton* there was no requirement that the jury find beyond a reasonable doubt that the killing occurred in a heat of passion — in

fact the Court stated the opposite, that the jury must give the defendant the benefit of any reasonable doubt. 5 Utah at 460. A reading of the entire opinion in *Calton* clearly indicates that that Court would certainly not have approved the extreme instructions given in the instant case.

The appellant does *not* for one moment argue that she is entitled to set her own standard of what is heat of passion and adequate provocation. However, she was entitled to a correct instruction as to what the standard is.

It has been held that the Utah Statue defining voluntary manslaughter is merely declaratory of common law. *State v. Cobo*, 90 Utah 89, 96, 60 P.2d (1936). WHARTON'S CRIMINAL LAW AND PROCEDURE defines "adequate provocation" as follows:

Adequate provocation may consist in anything the natural tendency of which is to produce passion in ordinary men, and which the jury are satisfied did produce it in the case before them, and *does not* consist in such a provocation as must, by the laws of the human mind, produce such an effect with the certainty that physical effects follow from physical causes. §276. (Anderson ed. 1957) (emphasis added).

Note that the provocation must merely have a tendency to arouse passion in the reasonable man and there is no requirement that the reasonable man be irresistibly compelled to kill.

The identical language is used in 40 Am Jur 2d, *Homicide* 61, p. 354 Am Jur also points out that the passion need not, in fact cannot, exceed what a reasonable man can control. 40 Am Jur 2d 60, p. 354. This would seem reasonable since ordinarily the law does not make felonies something that a reasonable man cannot control. Am. Jur. 2d sates :

A frequently approved statement of the rule declares that "reason should, at the time of the act, be disturbed or obscured by passion to an extent which might render ordinary men, of fair average disposition, liable to act rashly or without due deliberation or reflection, and from passion rather than judgment. *Ibid.*

One great source of error in determining what will reduce an intentional, unlawful killing from murder to voluntary manslaughter is the confusing of the nature of the passion and provocation which would morally *excuse* and legally *justify* a killing with that passion and provocation which would negate the presence of malice aforethought without either excusing or justifying it. It is only the latter which is involved in voluntary manslaughter. The killing is still legally and morally wrong — a felony which is severely punished. It approaches the absurd to say that only a reasonable man who, through no fault of his own, is subjected to irresistible passion may commit it.

The second source of error is the common failure to recognize that the requirements "without malice" and "in the heat of passion" are not ordinary elements in the sense that, for example, premeditation and malice aforethought are in first degree murder. They are not things that the state must prove — rather, they are attributes which distinguish voluntary manslaughter from murder, and if any party would wish to show their presence it would be the defendant. The listing of these distinguishing features as "elements" of voluntary manslaughter which have to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, as was done in this case (R-70), shifts the burden to the defense and leaves the jury in a quandry. They must be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that there *was* malice to convict of murder and they must be equally convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that there was *not malice* in order to reduce to voluntary manslaughter. This, of course, is not the law, *People v. Calton, supra*, at 460, and apparently was inadvertent on the trial court's part and unnoticed by counsel. Nonetheless, this requirement that "heat of passion" be proved beyond a reasonable doubt coupled with definitions of "heat of passion" and "adequate provocation" which were so strict as to be practically impossible to prove at all, absolutely voided any chance of the jury reducing the charge to voluntary manslaughter.

Appellant is not unmindful of the fact that defense counsel at trial did not except to the instructions which

are complained of here and, in fact, submitted an instruction that, while not as extreme as the one given by the court, contained some of the same erroneous language. However, it is clear that this was not the type of situation where counsel was cleverly trying to have his cake and eat it too, since there was no conceivable gain to the defendant in having such a strict standard placed on "heat of passion." It certainly does not increase chances for acquittal on grounds of self defense, for example, to have even the provoked irresistible anger of the reasonable man so harshly condemned as felonious.

The giving of these erroneous instructions was clearly prejudicial to the appellant and if she were partly at fault because of her counsel's failure to take exception, life imprisonment seems a rather harsh penalty for such fault. The state also has an interest that a verdict in a criminal case be based on correct law despite what the defendant may do or fail to do. Surely a defendant could not "waive" major elements of a crime defined by the legislature or stipulate to be convicted of a non-existent crime.

In *State v. Cobo*, 90 Utah 89, 60 P.2d 952 (1936), this Court reversed a conviction because of defective instructions on voluntary manslaughter, despite defense counsel's failure to except, stating:

We wish not to depart from the rule laid down in this jurisdiction that in ordinary cases on appeal errors relating to instructions or refusing requests to instruct will not be considered or reviewed unless exceptions thereto were properly taken by the party complaining. But in capital cases and in cases of grave and serious charged offenses and convictions of long terms of imprisonment, cases involving the life and liberty of the citizen, we think that when palpable error is made to appear on the face of the record and to the manifest prejudice of the accused, the court has the power to notice such error and to correct same, though no formal exception was taken to the ruling.

It is submitted that the error committed in the voluntary manslaughter instructions in the instant case is just as palpable and the prejudice just as manifest as that in *Cobo*.

## POINT II

APPELLANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BY A JURY OF HER PEERS BECAUSE THE JURY SELECTION SYSTEM UNFAIRLY EXCLUDED A SUBSTANTIAL PORTION OF THE COMMUNITY OF WHICH APPELLANT WAS A PART.

By excluding from jury service all those people in the community who were not on the assessment rolls of

Salt Lake County, the statute, §78-46-17 Utah Code, Ann., (1953), excluded a substantial portion of the community, the effect of which was to exclude a disproportionate number of qualified citizens who possess one or more of the following characteristics: black, young, poor, or female. All of these categories of persons are traditionally non-property holders,\* as contrasted with those groups of people who are white, older, non-poor, or male, or those who possess more than one of these characteristics. These latter categories of people are traditionally those who hold most of the property. However, as will be shown by the following cases, it is not necessary to show the effect of the exclusion, it is enough to show that the exclusion itself exists.

In *Sims v. State of Georgia*, 389 U.S. 404, 88 S.Ct. 523, 14 L.Ed. 2d 634, the grand and petit jury lists were drawn up from the county tax digests, and were listed by race. Negroes made up 24% of the taxpayers, but only 4.7% of the names on the grand jury lists and 9.8% of the petit jury lists. This was said by the Court not to comport with constitutional standards. This challenge by the defendant was successful because it showed an exclusion from jury service of a class of citizens. There was no showing of the effect of this exclusion, that is.

---

\*While females appear often as real property holders, there are a great number of people who are not real property holders of record and who would only appear as automobile owners and usually the automobile is in the name of the male.

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