1970

State of Utah v. Judy Carol Leggroan : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal from a jury verdict of guilty to the crime of murder in the second degree.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The jury found the defendant guilty of second degree murder in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah. The defendant was sentenced to the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term for the crime of murder in the second degree.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The respondent submits that the judgment of the Third Judicial District Court should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent stipulates to the appellant's facts except for the following observation.

It should be noted that there is conflicting evidence concerning the sequence of events immediately prior to the shooting. A police officer testified that the appellant said to him on the evening of the shooting that her husband called the appellant's mother a whore which made the appellant very angry. She reached under the bed and picked up a gun." . . . I had to put guts in it," she stated. The appellant then stood up and shot him (T. 290-91). Later at trial, the appellant testified that the argu- men had erupted into a fight when her husband threatened her with a gun and called her mother a whore, and in the struggle she took the gun away from him and shot him (T. 548-49).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DISTINGUISHING VOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER FROM MURDER NOR IN ITS DEFINITION OF "IN THE HEAT OF PASSION."

Manslaughter is explicitly distinguished from

murder in Wharton's Criminal Law and Procedure § 271 at 574 (Anderson ed. 1957):

"Manslaughter is unlawful homicide without malice aforethought, either express or implied. The element of malice aforethought must be absent or the homicide will by definition be murder. The absence of malice distinguishes it from any degree of murder. Manslaughter is a distinct offense, not a degree of murder, although both manslaughter and murder are kinds or categories of homicide." See Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-30-1, 76-30-5 (1953).

The element of malice is also defined in the Utah Code Ann. § 70-30-2 (1953):

"Such malice may be express or implied. It is express when there is manifested a deliberate intention unlawfully to take the life of a fellow creature. It is implied when no considerable provocation appears, or when the circumstances attending the killing show an abandoned and malignant heart."

In the instant case, the appellant was charged in the information with the commission of murder in the first degree, and the appellant entered a plea of not guilty. Consequently, the State carried the burden of proving the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. In arriving at a verdict, the Utah Code Ann. § 77-33-5 (1953) requires the jury to find the degree of homicide:

“Whenever a crime is distinguished into degrees, the jury, if they convict the defendant, must find the degree of the crime of which he is guilty.”

Under this Section, the degree of homicide should be determined so the court must instruct the jury on the lesser grades of the offense where the evidence warrants such instruction. *State v. Ferguson*, 74 Utah 263, 279 P. 55, 56 (1929) and *State v. Campbell*, 24 Utah 103, 66 P. 771 (1901). Sufficient evidence was present in this case to warrant such instructions, and the court instructed the jury that the State had to prove any offense—murder in first degree, murder in the second degree, voluntary manslaughter, and involuntary manslaughter — beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury considered each offense in the order given in the jury instructions and determined whether they were convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that one of the offenses was committed (R. 24, 26, 28, 29). When the court instructed the jury concerning the elements of voluntary manslaughter, the appellant alleges that the court erred in defining “in the heat of passion” as such “emotional or mental state as to irresistably compel an ordinary reasonable person to commit the act charged.”

In view of the definitions of murder and manslaughter, a charge of murder in the first or second degree can be reduced to voluntary manslaughter only if it can be shown that malice, either express or implied, was not present in the alleged act.

Conceptually, the crime of manslaughter was devised to treat leniently those who were transgressors by reason of provoked wrath rather than by a deliberate intent and forethought. Burdick, *The Law of Crime* §§ 458, 460 (1946). The reason for the lenient treatment of such transgressors is that they committed the alleged homicide by being provoked to such a degree of passion that no malice or a premeditated intent to take a life was present, and the homicide occurred because passion displaced any deliberate or premeditated intent. Consequently, the homicide is voluntary manslaughter not murder.

The respondent submits that the jury instruction that the heat of passion must "irresistably compel an ordinary reasonable person to commit the act charged. . . ." is not too strict a standard to express what degree the heat of passion must be. If the homicide occurs from any degree of malice or deliberate intent, it is then an element of murder and not manslaughter. The standard for manslaughter must be high enough to ascertain whether or not the act charged was the result of passion which completely displaced any element of malice.

Wharton's *Criminal Law and Procedure* § 275 at 583 (*supra*):

"The passion aroused by the provocation must be so violent as to dethrone the reason of the accused for the time being; it must prevent thought and reflection, and the formation of a deliberate purpose. The theory of the law

is that malice cannot exist at the same time as passion of this degree, and that the act of the defendant therefore cannot be considered the product of malice aforethought. Mere anger, in and of itself, is not sufficient, but must be of such a character as to prevent the individual from cool reflection and a control of his actions."

Case law holds that manslaughter requires a passion of an uncontrollable nature which suspends momentarily the exercise of cool reason. By definition, the "heat of passion" is the degree of passion which suspends cool reason, is uncontrollable, and "irresistably compels" an individual to cause the act committed. If the degree of passion were any lower than the suspension of cool reason, it would be the element of malice or intent in murder and no longer an element of passion in voluntary manslaughter. *Zenou v. State*, 4 Wis.2d 655, 91 N.W.2d 208, 214 (1958); *People v. Harris*, 8 Ill. 2d 431, 134 N.E.2d 315, 317 (1956); *State v. McAllister*, 41 N.J. 342, 196 A.2d 786, 792 (1964); *State v. Smart*, 328 S.W.2d 569, 574 (Mo. 1959); *State v. Cobo*, 90 Utah 89, 6 P.2d 952 (1936); *People v. Calton*, 5 Utah 451, 16 P. 902, rev'd on other grounds, 130 U.S. 83 (1888). Therefore, the standard for determining the sufficient degree of passion should be so strict that the jury has to be persuaded beyond a reasonable doubt that no malice or premeditated intent was present before a verdict of voluntary manslaughter can be formed. The appellant submits that the trial court did not set too strict a standard in its definition of "in the heat of passion" which required an in-

dividual to be "irresistably compelled to commit the act charged."

POINT II

THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO PROVE ANY ELEMENT OF DEFENSE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT AND ASSUMED ONLY THE BURDEN OF THE RISK OF NON-PERSUASION.

The appellant disagrees with jury instruction 28 because the instruction allegedly requires that two elements of voluntary manslaughter, "without malice" and "in the heat of passion," be proven by the appellant beyond a reasonable doubt in order for the appellant to reduce the charge from second degree murder to voluntary manslaughter. Such a requirement, it is argued, would therefore shift the burden of proof to the appellant and would only confuse the jury as to what is required to be believed beyond a reasonable doubt to justify a valid verdict. An analysis of this argument is best understood when the purpose and meaning of "beyond a reasonable doubt" and "burden of proof" are clearly understood.

"Beyond a reasonable doubt" is a phrase which measures the degree of the jury's persuasion in criminal cases. This standard indicates the positiveness of persuasion that must exist in the form of a verdict for conviction. 9 J. Wigmore, *Burden of Proof* § 2497 at 317 (3d ed. 1940). In the case of *State v. McCune*, 16 Utah 170, 51 P. 818 (1898), which involved an appeal of a jury verdict of guilty of assault with an

intent to commit rape on the basis of insufficient evidence, the Utah Supreme Court specifically held that this was the standard for the sufficiency of evidence for criminal cases.

“When the intent is the gist of the offense, that intent should be shown by such evidence as, uncontradicted, will authorize it to be presumed beyond a reasonable doubt. In order to convict, it is incumbent upon the prosecution to prove its case, and establish the defendant guilty, beyond a reasonable doubt. A reasonable doubt is not a mere imaginary, captious, or possible doubt, but a fair doubt, based upon reason and common sense, and growing out of the testimony in the case. It is such a doubt as will leave the juror’s mind, after a careful examination of all the evidence, in such a condition that he cannot say that he has an abiding conviction, to a moral certainty of the defendant’s guilt.” *Id.* at 819.

Other Utah cases which hold this standard applicable for criminal convictions include *State v. Adamson*, 101 Utah 534, 125 P.2d 429, 430 (1942); *State v. Hillstrom*, 46 Utah 341, 150 P. 935, 942 (1915); *State v. Green*, 77 Utah 580, 6 P.2d 177, 181 (1931); *State v. Gutheil*, 98 Utah 205, 98 P.2d 943, 944 (1940).

If this standard of persuasion is not obtained—“guilt beyond a reasonable doubt,”—the defendant is then entitled to an acquittal. This proposition is set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 77-31-4 (1953):

“A defendant in a criminal action is presumed to be innocent until the contrary is

proved, and in case of a reasonable doubt whether his guilt is satisfactorily shown, he is entitled to an acquittal."

In cases where the degree of persuasion is less than "guilt beyond a reasonable doubt," the prosecution has failed to carry its "burden of proof" and the defendant is acquitted of the criminal charge. *State v. Coyle*, 41 Utah 320, 126 P. 305, 308 (1912); *State v. Sullivan*, 6 Utah 2d 110, 307 P.2d 212 (1957). Consequently, the prosecution may prevail in a criminal case if he can establish "guilt beyond a reasonable doubt," but the defendant may be acquitted if he can raise a reasonable doubt in the jurors' minds as to the persuasiveness of the prosecutor's argument.

"Burden of proof" has two definitions that can be applied in a criminal trial. Abbot, *Two Burdens of Proof*, 6 Harv. L. Rev. 125 (1892). One definition is that the party who has invited the issue carries the burden of persuasion for his cause of action to establish by evidence the requisite degree of belief in the mind of the trier of fact, i.e., in criminal cases the prosecution must establish "guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." 9 J. Wigmore, *Burden of Proof* § 2487 at 278, *supra*. Obviously, this burden does not shift because the prosecution's cause of action would be defeated if the prosecution shifted or abandoned this burden of persuasion, and the jury

would then be left with a reasonable doubt as to why the prosecution would leave this burden.

The second definition given to "burden of proof" is that the burden of going forward with evidence may shift from one party to another during the course of the trial. When the prosecution has invited the issue and has produced sufficient evidence from which the jury could infer the fact alleged from the circumstance proved, the burden then shifts to the defendant to introduce rebutting evidence or evidence establishing some defense to avoid the risk of a ruling against the defendant. 9 J. Wigmore, *Burden of Proof* § 2485 at 270, *supra*. Unlike the first definition of burden of proof, this burden does shift depending on the quantity of evidence produced by the moving party, and is often referred to as the risk of non-persuasion. It is this burden that shifts in a murder case as described by Utah Code Ann. § 77-31-12 (1953):

"Upon a trial for murder, the commission of the homicide by the defendant being proved, the burden of proving circumstances of mitigation or that justify or excuse it, shall devolve upon him, unless the proof on the part of the prosecution tends to show that the crime committed amounts only to manslaughter, or that the defendant was justified or excusable."

In view of these definitions, the appellee submits that there was no shifting of the burden of persuasion—the burden of establishing guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, but that there may have been a

duty on the part of the appellant to bring forth evidence to mitigate or rebut the evidence that the appellant had brought forth to avoid an adverse ruling produced mitigating circumstances which included two elements of voluntary manslaughter, "heat of passion" and "without malice." But as already argued, the appellant had to only raise a reasonable doubt in the minds of the jurors concerning the element of malice in order to obtain an acquittal of the murder charge and did not have to prove the elements of voluntary manslaughter beyond a reasonable doubt in order to defeat the prosecution's argument (Utah Code Ann. § 77-31-4 (1953)). This was clearly understood by the jurors because the court in instruction 28 specifically stated:

"You are further instructed that the burden is upon the State to prove to your satisfaction and beyond a reasonable doubt that all of the foregoing elements of the crime of Voluntary Manslaughter are present in this case; and if the State shall have failed to satisfy your minds beyond a reasonable doubt upon one or more of said elements, then you must acquit the defendant of voluntary manslaughter, and you should consider whether or not she is guilty of Involuntary Manslaughter."

In view of the jury verdict in favor of the prosecution, it follows that the appellant's theory of mitigating circumstances failed to raise a reasonable doubt in the jury's mind concerning the prosecution's theory of murder. Consequently, the appellant suf-

ferred an adverse ruling and must accept the degree of persuasion of the trier of fact as to the verdict of second degree murder. The jury instructions clearly stated that the burden was upon the State to prove the elements of voluntary manslaughter "beyond a reasonable doubt," and the appellant needed only to raise a reasonable doubt in the mind of the jury to be entitled to an acquittal.

POINT III

THE APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT DOES NOT SHOW THAT THE MANNER OF JURY SELECTION WAS INTENTIONAL, PURPOSEFUL DISCRIMINATION.

The appellant's authority for the proposition that a "substantial portion of the community" was excluded from the jury rests partly upon several civil rights cases. These cases rely upon the constitutional principle of the Fourteenth Amendment that a purposeful or deliberate exclusion of Negroes from jury service is a violation of the Equal Protection Clause. *Strauder v. West Virginia*, 100 U.S. 303, 308 (1880); *Ex Parte Virginia*, 100 U.S. 339 (1880); *Carter v. Texas*, 177 U.S. 442, 447 (1900). Such discrimination on account of race was present in the civil rights cases cited by the appellant. In *Sims v. State of Georgia*, 389 U.S. 404 (1967), Negroes constituted 24 per cent of the taxpayers but only 2.4 per cent of the grand jury lists and 9.8 per cent of the petit jury lists. In *Arnold v. State of North Carolina*, 376 U.S. 773 (1964), Negroes and whites were listed separately on the

tax records and in twenty-four years, only one Negro had been on the grand jury. In *Whitus v. State of Georgia*, 385 U.S. 545 (1967), Negroes constituted 27 per cent of the taxpayers and less than 8 per cent of the names appeared on the jury lists. These cases do not stand for the proposition that if it is shown that a group is excluded from jury service, discrimination is present, but they stand for the proposition that if the number of Negroes chosen is an improbable result of random selection, that fact is prima facie evidence of discrimination because a large and unexplained disparity between the population of Negroes on the venires and in the population is unlikely to result from random selection. Finkelstein, *The Application of Statistical Decision Theory to the Jury Discrimination Cases*, 80 Harv. L. Rev. 338 (1966). This proposition is further supported by the Supreme Court holding in *Swain v. State of Alabama*, 380 U.S. 202 (1965), that the evidence based upon a statistical analysis was not sufficient to constitute a prima facie case of discrimination even though it seemed to indicate that a portion of the Negro community had been excluded from jury service. In other words, the evidence did not indicate such a disparity between Negroes participating in jury service and the total Negro community to render the process an improbable result of random selection.

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